












The Story of







	 2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011

	 RM’000	 RM’000 	 RM’000 	 RM’000 	 RM’000 

Revenue	 292,900	 307,218	 243,153	 299,468	  316,163

Profit Before Tax	 23,382	 32,347	 39,599	 44,108	 74,674

Profit After Tax	 16,540	 23,522	 27,603	 34,719	 61,383*

Total Assets	 319,520	 324,578	 332,740	 438,372	 448,748

Net Tangible Assets	 177,063	 196,612	 219,115	 251,550	 259,454

Shareholders’ Funds	 174,907	 194,621	 217,432	 250,234	 254,289

Paid-up Share Capital	 68,000	 68,000	 68,000	 68,000	 68,000

Per Share (sen)

Group Earnings	 24	 35	 41	 51	 86

Net Tangible Assets	 260	 289	 322	 370	 382

Dividend	 8	 10	 10	 44	 37
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2011

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2011. 	

Principal activities 

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and civil construction, whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as 
stated in Note 5 to the financial statements.  There has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Results 	

		  Group	C ompany

		RM	RM  

Profit for the year attributable to:

	 Owners of the Company	 58,780,514	 23,209,317

	 Non-controlling interests	 2,602,282	 -      

		  61,382,796	 23,209,317

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review except as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

Dividend 		

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company paid:

i)	 an interim tax exempt (single-tier) dividend of 44.11 sen per ordinary share totalling RM30,000,000 in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 on 11 March 2011; and

ii)	 an interim tax exempt dividend (single-tier) of 36.76 sen per ordinary share totalling RM25,000,000 in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2011 on 3 January 2012.

 
The directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011.
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Directors of the Company

Directors who served since the date of the last report are: 

	 Y.A.M. Tengku Dato’ Rahimah binti Almarhum Sultan Mahmud 
	 Loh Kim Kah
	 Yong Weng Fai
	 Geh Choh Hun
	 Loh Taek Howe
	 Tan Vern Tact
	 Loo Ai Swan (Alternate director to Tan Vern Tact) resigned on 29 April 2011
	 Monica Oh Chin Chin (Alternate director of Tan Vern Tact) appointed on 8 August 2011

In accordance with Article 118 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Loh Kim Kah and Yong Weng Fai retire by rotation at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

	
Directors’ interests

None of the Directors holding office at 31 December 2011 had any interest in the ordinary shares of the Company and of its related 
corporations during the financial year.

Directors’ benefits 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit (other than 
a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as disclosed in Note 20) by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a 
company in which the Director has substantial financial interest, other than the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 29 to the 
financial statements.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Issue of shares 

There were no changes in the authorised, issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the financial year.

Options granted over unissued shares 

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the year.
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Other statutory information

Before the statements of financial position and statements of comprehensive income of the Group and of the Company were made out, the 
Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that:

i)	 all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and

ii)	 any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written down to an amount which 
they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

i)	 that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts, in the Group and in the 
Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or 

ii)	 that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading, 
or

iii)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
misleading or inappropriate, or

iv)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any amount stated in the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which secures the 
liabilities of any other person, or

ii)	 any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability 
of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors, except for gain on disposal of  non-current assets held for sale amounting to RM26,261,511 as disclosed in 
Note 18 to the financial statements, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2011 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature nor has any such item, 
transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end of that financial year and the date of this report.
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Other statutory information (continued)

Auditors 

The auditors, Messrs KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Y.A.M. Tengku Dato’ Rahimah binti 				L   oh Kim Kah
Almarhum Sultan Mahmud

Kuala Lumpur,
Date: 29 May 2012



36 LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Statements of financial position 
as at 31 December 2011

						      Group		C  ompany

					     Note	 2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

Assets

	 Property, plant and equipment	 3	 60,003,278	 47,637,449	 -       	 -       

	 Investment properties	 4	 15,060,100	 14,900,100	 -       	 -       

	 Investments in subsidiaries	 5	 -      	 -	 153,280,342	 153,280,342 

	 Other investments	 6	 -      	 500,000	 -       	 -       

	 Deferred tax assets	 7	 1,290,640	 300,869	 -       	 -       

	 Trade and other receivables	 8	 18,705,275	 5,673,970	 -       	 -       

Total non-current assets		  95,059,293	 69,012,388	 153,280,342	 153,280,342

	 Other investments	 6	 8,663,518	 18,578,631	 8,158,118	 18,573,231

	 Inventories 	 9	 248,329	 3,321,776	 -      	 -       

	 Property development costs	 10	 63,025,080	 68,221,109	 -      	 -        

	 Trade and other receivables	 8	 127,740,070	 150,782,207	 24,649,051	 16,285,521 

	 Current tax assets		  16,739,887	 3,874,394	 567,182	 707,520 

	 Cash and cash equivalents	 11	 137,272,177	 115,842,806	 3,300,765	 41,378,779

	 Assets classified as held for sale	 12	 -      	 8,738,489	 -      	 -       

Total current assets		  353,689,061	 369,359,412	 36,675,116	 76,945,051

Total assets		  448,748,354	 438,371,800	 189,955,458	 230,225,393	
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Statements of financial position 
as at 31 December 2011 (continued)

						      Group		C  ompany

					     Note	 2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

Equity

	 Share capital		  68,000,000	 68,000,000	 68,000,000	 68,000,000

	 Revaluation reserve		  6,658,508	 6,794,302	 76,885,943	 76,885,943

	 Retained earnings		  179,630,415	 175,439,901	 9,841,570	 41,632,253

Total equity attributable to
	 shareholders of the Company		  254,288,923	 250,234,203	 154,727,513	 186,518,196	

Non-controlling interests		  5,164,821	 1,315,855	 -        	 -        

Total equity	 13	 259,453,744	 251,550,058	 154,727,513	 186,518,196

Liabilities

	 Loans and borrowings	 14	 2,454,017	 1,029,970	 -        	 -        

	 Deferred tax liabilities	 7	 2,564,099	 1,656,698	 -        	 -        

	 Trade and other payables	 15	 20,229,838	 13,147,401	 -        	 -        

Total non-current liabilities		  25,247,954	 15,834,069	 -        	 -        

	 Trade and other payables	 15	 161,552,355	 169,464,293	 35,227,945	 43,707,197

	  Loans and borrowings 	 14	 1,861,616	 946,024	 -        	 -        

	 Current tax liabilities		  632,685	 577,356	 -        	 -        

Total current liabilities		  164,046,656	 170,987,673	 35,227,945	 43,707,197	

Total liabilities		  189,294,610	 186,821,742	 35,227,945	 43,707,197	

Total equity and liabilities		  448,748,354	 438,371,800	 189,955,458	 230,225,393	

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.	
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Statements of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2011

						      Group		C  ompany

					     Note	 2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

Revenue 	 16	 316,162,923	 299,468,255	 24,844,187	 88,020,690

Cost of sales	 17	 (240,787,070)	 (231,397,780)	 (112,161)	 (49,146,164)

Gross profit		  75,375,853	 68,070,475	 24,732,026	 38,874,526

Other income	 18	 31,597,604	 5,961,445	 -       	 781,230

Administrative expenses		  (32,026,482)	 (29,585,770)	 (1,331,598)	 (993,921)

Results from operating activities		  74,946,975	 44,446,150	 23,400,428	 38,661,835

Finance costs		  (273,457)	 (337,769)	 -       	 -       

Profit before tax	 19	 74,673,518	 44,108,381	 23,400,428	 38,661,835	
Income tax expense	 21	 (13,290,722)	 (9,388,896)	 (191,111)	 203,995 

Profit for the year		  61,382,796	 34,719,485	 23,209,317	 38,865,830 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

	 Revaluation of land and buildings		  -       	2,572,517	 -       	 -        

Total other comprehensive income for the year		  -      	 2,572,517	 -       	 -       

Total comprehensive income for the year		  61,382,796	 37,292,002	 23,209,317	 38,865,830	

Profit attributable to:

	 Owners of the Company 		  58,780,514	 34,786,467	 23,209,317	 38,865,830

	 Non-controlling interests		  2,602,282	 (66,982)	 -      	 -      

Profit for the year		  61,382,796	 34,719,485	 23,209,317	 38,865,830 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

	 Owners of the Company		  58,780,514	 37,358,984	 23,209,317	 38,865,830

	 Non-controlling interests		  2,602,282	 (66,982)	 -      	 -      

Total comprehensive income for the year		  61,382,796	 37,292,002	 23,209,317	 38,865,830

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen):	 22	 86	 51

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.		
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Statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2011

						     Attributable to shareholders of the Company 
					N     on-Distributable	 Distributable

										N          on-
						      Share	R evaluation 	R etained		  controlling	T otal
					N     ote	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	T otal	 interests	 equity

Group		RM	RM	RM    	 RM	RM 	 RM

At 1 January 2010		  68,000,000	 4,221,785	 145,753,432	 217,975,217	 1,683,362	 219,658,579

Revaluation of land and 
	 buildings		   -       	 2,572,517	 -       	 2,572,517	 -       	 2,572,517

Total other comprehensive	
	 income for the year		  -       	 2,572,517	 -       	 2,572,517	 -       	 2,572,517

Profit for the year		  -       	 -     	 34,786,467	 34,786,467	 (66,982)	 34,719,485

Total comprehensive 
	 income for the year		  -       	 2,572,517 	 34,786,467	 37,358,984	 (66,982) 	 37,292,002

Changes in ownership
	  interests in a subsidiary		  -       	 -      	 -       	 -       	 (300,525)	 (300,525)

Dividends to owners of the 
	 Company	 23	 -       	 -      	 (5,099,998)	 (5,099,998)	 -       	 (5,099,998)

Total transactions 
	 with owners		  -       	 -      	 (5,099,998)	 (5,099,998)	 (300,525) 	 (5,400,523)

At 31 December 2010		  68,000,000	 6,794,302	 175,439,901	 250,234,203	 1,315,855	 251,550,058
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Statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

						     Attributable to shareholders of the Company 
					N     on-Distributable	 Distributable

										N          on-
						      Share	R evaluation 	R etained		  controlling	T otal
					N     ote	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	T otal	 interests	 equity

Group		RM	RM	RM    	 RM	RM 	 RM

At 1 January 2011		  68,000,000	 6,794,302	 175,439,901	 250,234,203	 1,315,855	 251,550,058

Reversal of reserves	 7	  -       	 (135,794)	 -       	 (135,794)	 -       	 (135,794)

Total profit and other 
	 comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -       	 -      	 58,780,514	 58,780,514	 2,602,282 	 61,382,796

Changes in ownership interests
	 in a subsidiary		  -       	 -      	 410,000	 410,000	 1,246,684	 1,656,684

Dividends to owners of the 
	 Company	 23	 -       	 -      	(55,000,000)	 (55,000,000)	 -       	(55,000,000)

Total transactions 
	 with owners		  -       	 -      	(54,590,000)	 (54,590,000)	 1,246,684 	 (53,343,316)

At 31 December 2011		  68,000,000	 6,658,508	 179,630,415	 254,288,923	 5,164,821	 259,453,744  
	

						      Note 13	 Note 13	 Note 13

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.		
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Statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

						     Attributable to shareholders of the Company 
					N     on-Distributable	 Distributable

										N          on-
						      Share	R evaluation 	R etained		  controlling	T otal
					N     ote	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	T otal	 interests	 equity

Group		RM	RM	RM    	 RM	RM 	 RM

At 1 January 2011		  68,000,000	 6,794,302	 175,439,901	 250,234,203	 1,315,855	 251,550,058

Reversal of reserves	 7	  -       	 (135,794)	 -       	 (135,794)	 -       	 (135,794)

Total profit and other 
	 comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -       	 -      	 58,780,514	 58,780,514	 2,602,282 	 61,382,796

Changes in ownership interests
	 in a subsidiary		  -       	 -      	 410,000	 410,000	 1,246,684	 1,656,684

Dividends to owners of the 
	 Company	 23	 -       	 -      	(55,000,000)	 (55,000,000)	 -       	(55,000,000)

Total transactions 
	 with owners		  -       	 -      	(54,590,000)	 (54,590,000)	 1,246,684 	 (53,343,316)

At 31 December 2011		  68,000,000	 6,658,508	 179,630,415	 254,288,923	 5,164,821	 259,453,744  
	

						      Note 13	 Note 13	 Note 13

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.		

Statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

					     Non-distributable	 Distributable

						S      hare	R evaluation	R etained	

						      capital	 reserve	 earnings	T otal

Company	N ote	RM	RM	RM	RM   

At 1 January 2010		  68,000,000	 76,885,943	 7,866,421	 152,752,364

	

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year		  -       	 -       	 38,865,830	 38,865,830

Dividends to owners of the Company	 23	 -       	 -       	 (5,099,998)	 (5,099,998)	

Total contribution from/
	d istribution to owners		  -       	 -       	 33,765,832	 33,765,832

At 31 December 2010/ 1 January 2011		  68,000,000	 76,885,943	 41,632,253	 186,518,196

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year		  -       	 -       	 23,209,317	 23,209,317

Dividends to owners of the Company	 23	 -       	 -       	(55,000,000)	 (55,000,000)

Total contribution from/

	d istribution to owners		  -       	 -       	(31,790,683)	 (31,790,683)

At 31 December 2011		  68,000,000	 76,885,943	 9,841,570	 154,727,513	

						      Note 13	 Note 13	 Note 13

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.	
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Statements of cash flow 
for the year ended 31 December 2011

						      Group		C  ompany

						      2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

Cash flows from operating activities 

	 Profit before tax		  74,673,518	 44,108,381	 23,400,428	 38,661,835

	 Adjustments for:

			   Amortisation of interest in leasehold land		  -       	 467,647	 -      	 -       

			   Impairment loss on interest in leasehold land		  -       	 545,588	 -      	 -       

			   Property, plant and equipment

	 	 	 	 • depreciation	 	 2,402,270	 2,812,088	 -      	 -       

	 	 	 	 • gain on disposal	 	 (352,786)	 (101,078)	 -      	 -       

	 	 	 	 • written off	 	 18,215	 83,254	 -      	 -       

	 	 	 	 • impairment loss	 	 -       	1,195,847	 -      	 -       

			   Impairment loss of trade receivables, 		  4,764,083	 279,839	 -      	 -       

			   Provision for foreseeable losses 		  1,257,025	 -      	 -      	 -       

			   Dividend income		  (174,488)	 (162,051)	 (24,174,488)	 (36,162,051)

			   Finance income

	 	 	 	 • short term deposits	 	 (2,449,974)	 (1,749,870)	 (357,308)	 (988,321)

	 	 	 	 • loans and receivables	 	 (50,469)	 (1,204,604)	 -      	 -       

			   Fair value loss/(gain) on investment securities		  451,602	 (743,835)	 451,602	 (743,835)

			   Loss on disposal of a subsidiary		  -	 149,588	 -	 -

			   Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for sale		  (26,261,511)	 -      	 -      	 -       

			   Finance costs		  273,457	 337,769	 -      	 -       

			   Loss on disposal of other long term investments		  -       	 144,525	 -      	 -       

			   Fair value loss on a investment property		  -       	 24,155	 -      	 -        

			   Reversal of impairment loss on

	 	 	 	 • trade receivables	 	 (1,484,215)     	 (65,599)	 -      	 -       

	 	 	 	 • quoted investment	 	 -       	 (37,395)	 -      	 (37,395)

	 	 	 	 • other receivables	 	 (424,417)      	 (18,630)	 -      	 -       

			   Net gain on disposal of other investments		  (312,391)	 (2,123,891)	 (312,391)	 (1,871,749)

			   Reversal of provision for foreseeable losses		  -       	 (294,989)		  -

			   Unrealised foreign exchange gain		  (728,479)	 -	 -	 -       

	Op erating profit/(loss) before 
			   changes in working capital		  51,601,440	 43,646,739	 (992,157)	 (1,141,516)
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Statements of cash flow 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

						      Group		C  ompany

					NOTE	      2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

	Op erating profit/(loss)  
			   before changes in working capital (continued)				  

			   Changes in inventories		  3,073,452	 (110,486)	 -      	 -        

			   Changes in property development costs		  3,281,176	 (21,803,706)	 -      	 -        

			   Changes in trade and other receivables		  (30,351,549)	 (16,627,210)	 (14,567,821)	 (6,283,521)

			   Changes in trade and other payables		  16,765,581	 37,654,821	 (3,168,837)	 4,110,717

	C ash generated from/(used in) operations 		  44,370,100	 42,760,158	 (18,728,815)	 (3,314,320)

	 Interest paid		  (188,240)	 (116,123)	 -      	 -      

	 Income tax paid		  (26,278,953)	 (12,656,962)	 (50,773)	 (83,540) 

	N et cash generated from/

			   (used in) operating activities 		  17,902,907	 29,987,073	 (18,779,588)	 (3,397,860)

Cash flows from investing activities 

	 Dividends received		  7,315	 4,600	 7,045	 6,004,600 

	 Interest received		  1,294,908	 1,597,708	 193,411	 849,437

	 Investment in unit trust		  -	 (10,000,000)	 - 	 (10,000,000)

	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 (ii)	 (13,516,098)	 (13,619,428)	 -      	 -      

	 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		  1,922,146	 783,655	 -      	 -      

	 Proceeds from disposal of other investments		  10,172,850	 55,205,252	 10,172,850	 50,000,000

	 Proceeds from disposal of other long term investment		  -       	 150,000	 -      	 -      

	 Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale		  35,000,000	 -       	 -      	 -      

	 Proceeds from disposal of interest in a subsidiary		  254,800  	 -       	 -      	 -     

	 Purchase of investment property		  (160,000)	 -       	 -      	 -      

	 Net cash inflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary		  -       	 486,175	 -      	 -      

	N et cash generated from investing activities 		  34,975,921	 34,607,963	 10,373,306	 46,854,037
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Statements of cash flow 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

						      Group		C  ompany

					NOTE	      2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

Cash flows from financing activities 

	 Repayment of finance lease obligations		  (1,777,725)	 (1,176,514)	 -      	 -       

	 Dividends paid		  (30,000,000)	 (5,099,998)	 (30,000,000)	 (5,099,998)

	N et cash used in financing activities		  (31,777,725)	 (6,276,512)	 (30,000,000)	 (5,099,998)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		  21,101,103	 58,318,524	 (38,406,282)	 38,356,179	

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		  113,479,696	 55,161,172	 39,015,669	 659,490

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December	 (i)	 134,580,799	 113,479,696	 609,387	 39,015,669

(i)			C  ash and cash equivalents	

				   Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position amounts:

						      Group		C  ompany

					NOTE	      2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						RM	RM	RM        	 RM

			   Cash and cash equivalents	 11	 137,272,177	 115,842,806	 3,300,765	 41,378,779

			   Less:  Deposits pledged		  (2,691,378)	 (2,363,110)	 (2,691,378)	 (2,363,110) 

						      134,580,799	 113,479,696	 609,387	 39,015,669

(ii)			A  cquisition of property, plant and equipment

			   During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with aggregate costs of RM17,633,898  
			   (2010: RM15,171,428), of which RM4,117,800 (2010: RM1,552,000), were acquired by means of finance leases.

The notes set out on pages 45 to 108 are an integral part of these financial statements.		
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Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011

Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The addresses of its principal 
place of business and registered office of the Company are as follows:

Principal place of business
19 & 21, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7
Taman Sri Hartamas
50480 Kuala Lumpur

Registered office 
Level 7, Menara Milenium
Jalan Damanlela
Pusat Bandar Damansara
Damansara Heights
50490 Kuala Lumpur

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 comprise the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in jointly 
controlled assets and operations. The financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 do not 
include other entities. 

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and civil construction, whilst the principal activities of the subsidiaries are as 
stated in Note 5 to the financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company are UBG Berhad and Javace Sdn. Bhd. respectively, both of which are incorporated and 
domiciled in Malaysia

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 May 2012.

1.	B asis of preparation

	 1.1	S tatement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs), generally accepted 
accounting principles and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the FRS framework that have been issued by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) but have not been adopted by the Group and the Company:
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1.	B asis of preparation (continued)

	 1.1	S tatement of compliance (continued)

		  a. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

•	 IC Interpretation 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
•	 Amendments to IC Interpretation 14, Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

		  b. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

•	 FRS 124, Related Party Disclosures (revised)
•	 Amendments to FRS 1, First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of  
	 Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters
•	 Amendments to FRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
•	 Amendments to FRS 112, Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

		  c. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

•	 Amendments to FRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive  
	 Income

		  d. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

•	 FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2009)
•	 FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2010)
•	 FRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
•	 FRS 11, Joint Arrangements
•	 FRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
•	 FRS 13, Fair Value Measurement
•	 FRS 119, Employee Benefits (2011)
•	 FRS 127, Separate Financial Statements (2011)
•	 FRS 128, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)
•	 IC Interpretation 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
•	 Amendments to FRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
•	 Amendments to FRS 1, First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards – Government Loans

		  e. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

•	 Amendments to FRS 132, Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

		  f. 	FRS s, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

•	 FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2009)
•	 FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2010)
•	 Amendments to FRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Mandatory Date of FRS 9 and Transition Disclosures

The Group’s financial statements for annual period beginning on 1 January 2012 will be prepared in accordance with the 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs) issued by the MASB and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs). As a result, the Group will not be adopting the above FRSs, Interpretations and amendments.
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1.	B asis of preparation (continued)

	 1.2	B asis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.

	 1.3	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Company’s functional currency.

	 1.4 	U se of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
	
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed in the following notes:

•	 Note 2.16 c and Note 2.16 d – Revenue from construction contract and property development  
•	 Note 3 – Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
•	 Note 4 – Valuation of investment properties
•	 Note 8 – Valuation of recoverability and impairment of receivables
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies 	

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements, and have 
been applied consistently by the Group entities.

	
	 2.1	B asis of consolidation

		  a.	S ubsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including unincorporated entities, controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has 
the ability to exercise its power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. Subsidiaries 
that were acquired from a company with common control are consolidated using the merger method of accounting. Other 
subsidiaries are consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting. 

Under the purchase method of accounting, the financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any impairment 
losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

		  b.	A ccounting for business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which is the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group except for certain subsidiaries, which have been accounted using the merger 
method of accounting.

Under the merger method of accounting, the results of entities or businesses under common control are accounted for 
as if the acquisition had occurred at the date that common control was established. The assets and liabilities acquired are 
recognised at the carrying amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between the cost 
of acquisition and the nominal value of the shares acquired together with the share premium are taken to merger reserve 
(or adjusted against any suitable reserve in the case of debit differences). The other components of equity of the acquired 
entities are added to the same components within the Group.

The Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to accounting for business combinations. 

From 1 January 2011, the Group has applied FRS 3, Business Combinations (revised) in accounting for business combinations. 
The change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions provided by 
the standard and does not have impact on earnings per share.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.1	B asis of consolidation (continued)

		  b.	A ccounting for business combinations (continued)

			A   cquisitions on or after 1 January 2011

For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2011, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
•	 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.  

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes 
to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 
employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement 
awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on 
the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and 
the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service. 

			   Acquisitions between 1 January 2006 and 1 January 2011

For acquisitions between 1 January 2006 and 1 January 2011, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition 
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess was negative, a bargain purchase gain was recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in 
connection with business combinations were capitalised as part of the cost of the acquisition.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.1	B asis of consolidation (continued)

		  b.	A ccounting for business combinations (continued)

			A   cquisitions prior to 1 January 2006

For acquisitions prior to 1 January 2006, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s 
interest in the fair values of the net identifiable assets and liabilities.

Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest 
method. The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements of the controlling holding company. Any difference between the consideration paid and 
the share capital of the “acquired” entity is reflected within equity as merger reserve. 

The statement of comprehensive income reflects the results of the combining entities for the full year, irrespective of 
when the combination takes place. Comparatives are presented as if the entities have always been combined since the 
date the entities had come under common control.

		  c.	A ccounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests

The Group treats all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control as equity 
transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. Any difference between the Group’s share of net 
assets before and after the change, and any consideration received or paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves. 

		  d.	L oss of control

The Group applied FRS 127, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised) since the beginning of the reporting 
period in accordance with the transitional provisions provided by the standard and does not have impact on earnings per 
share. Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss 
of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is 
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or 
as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

In the previous financial years, if the Group retained any interest in the previous subsidiary, such interest was measured 
at the carrying amount at the date that control was lost and this carrying amount would be regarded as cost on initial 
measurement of the investment.

		  e.	 Joint ventures

			   Jointly-controlled operations and assets

The interest of the Company or of the Group in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly-controlled assets are brought to 
account by recognising in its financial statements the assets it controls and the liabilities that it incurs, and the expenses it 
incurs and its share of income that it earns from the sale of goods or services by the joint venture.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.1	B asis of consolidation (continued)

		  f. 	N on-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or 
indirectly to the equity holders of the Company, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity within equity, separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as 
an allocation of the profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and the 
owners of the Company.

Since the beginning of the reporting period, the Group has applied FRS 127, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(revised) where losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests 
even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance. This change in accounting policy is applied 
prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard and does not have impact on earnings per 
share.

In the previous financial years, where losses applicable to the non-controlling interests exceed their interests in the equity 
of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses applicable to the non-controlling interests, were charged against the 
Group’s interest except to the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding obligation to, and was able to, 
make additional investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reported profits, the Group’s interest was 
allocated with all such profits until the non-controlling interests’ share of losses previously absorbed by the Group had 
been recovered. 

		  g.	T ransactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

	 2.2	F oreign currency 

		  a.	F oreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting period are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date.  

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the end of the reporting date 
except for those that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date 
that the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.3	F inancial instruments

		  a.	I nitial recognition and measurement

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if, it 
is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not categorised 
at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is 
accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.

		  b.	F inancial instrument categories and subsequent measurement 

The Group and the Company categorise financial instruments as follows:

			F   inancial assets

i.	F inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial assets that are held for trading, including derivatives, 
except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument, or 
financial assets that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot 
be reliably measured are measured at cost.  

Other financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values 
with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

ii.	H eld-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments category comprises debt instruments that are quoted in an active market and the Group 
or the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity.

Financial assets categorised as held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

iii.	L oans and receivables

Loans and receivables category comprises debt instruments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for impairment 
(see Note 2.12).
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.3	F inancial instruments (continued)

		  b.	F inancial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (continued)

			F   inancial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised as fair value through 
profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, derivatives or financial 
liabilities that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be 
reliably measured are measured at cost.  

Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values with 
the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

		  c.	F inancial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified 
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are classified as deferred income and are amortised to profit or loss using a straight-line 
method over the contractual period or, when there is no specified contractual period, recognised in profit or loss upon 
discharge of the guarantee.  When settlement of a financial guarantee contract becomes probable, an estimate of the 
obligation is made.  If the carrying value of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the obligation, the carrying value 
is adjusted to the obligation amount and accounted for as a provision.

		  d.	R egular way purchase or sale of financial assets 

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of 
the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date 
accounting. Trade date accounting refers to:

i.	 the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and 
ii.	 derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable from  
	 the buyer for payment on the trade date.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.3	F inancial instruments (continued)

		  e.	 Derecognition

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks 
and rewards of the asset.  On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 
or cancelled or expires.  On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred 
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

	 2.4	 Property, plant and equipment

		  a.	R ecognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost / valuation less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

			   Property, plant and equipment under the revaluation model	

The Group revalues its property comprising land and building every 5 years and at shorter intervals whenever the fair value 
of the revalued assets is expected to differ materially from their carrying value.

Surpluses arising from revaluation are dealt with in the revaluation reserve account. Any deficit arising is offset against the 
revaluation reserve to the extent of a previous increase for the same property. In all other cases, a decrease in carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

			   Property, plant and equipment where no revaluation policy is adopted 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is recognised net within “other income” and 
“other expenses” respectively in profit or loss. 
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.4	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

		  b.	S ubsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group or the Company, and its 
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

		  c.	 Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, 
less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives 
unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not 
depreciated. Property, plant and equipment under construction are not depreciated until the assets are ready for their 
intended use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

•	 buildings	 50 years
•	 plant and machinery	 10-20 years
•	 office equipment, furniture and fittings	 5-10 years
•	 motor vehicles	 5-8 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate at the end of the reporting 
period.

	 2.5	L eased assets

		  a.	F inance lease

Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases.  On initial recognition of the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of 
the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising 
the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as property, plant and equipment.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.5	L eased assets (continued)

		  b.	O perating lease

Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as operating leases and, the leased assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position.  

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.  Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease.  Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the reporting period in which they 
are incurred.

	 2.6	I nvestment properties

		  a.	I nvestment properties carried at fair value

Investment properties are properties which are owned to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but 
not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in 
profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Where the fair value of the investment property under construction is not 
reliably determinable, the investment property under construction is measured at cost until either its fair value becomes 
reliably determinable or construction is complete, whichever is earlier.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-
constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

An investment property is derecognised on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.  The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

		  b.	R eclassification to/from investment property

When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in its use, any 
difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to transfer and its fair 
value is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as revaluation reserve.  However, if a fair 
value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  Upon disposal of an investment 
property, any surplus previously recorded in equity is transferred to retained earnings; the transfer is not made through 
profit or loss.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment or inventories, its fair value 
at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting. 
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.6	I nvestment properties (continued)

		  c.	 Determination of fair value

The Directors estimate the fair values of the Company’s investment property without involvement of independent valuers. 
The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the 
date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing 
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
 
Significant assumptions in arriving at the fair value of investment properties are disclosed in Note 4.

	 2.7	I nventories

Inventories of completed properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes 
expenditures incurred in the acquisition of land, direct cost and appropriate proportions of common cost attributable to developing 
the properties to completion.

Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured based on 
weighted average cost formula, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs 
and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.  In the case of work-in-progress and finished 
goods, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

	 2.8	N on-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets and liabilities that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale 
or distribution rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies.  Thereafter generally the assets, or disposal group are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, 
except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment 
property, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.  Impairment losses on initial 
classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.  Gains are not 
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated. In addition, 
equity accounting of equity-accounted investees ceases once classified as held for sale. 
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.9	C onstruction work-in-progress

Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for contract work 
performed to date.  It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress billings and recognised losses.  Cost 
includes all expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the 
Group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity.  

Construction work-in-progress is presented as part of trade and other receivables as amount due from contract customers in 
the statement of financial position for all contracts in which costs incurred plus recognised profits exceed progress billings. If 
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, then the difference is presented as deferred revenue in the 
statement of financial position.

	 2.10	 Property development costs

Property development costs comprise costs associated with the acquisition of land and all costs that are directly attributable to 
development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

When the financial outcome of a development activity can be reliably estimated, property development revenue and expenses 
are recognised in profit or loss by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion 
that property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

Where the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and property development costs 
on properties sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the defects liability period, is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

Property development costs not recognised as an expense is recognised as an asset and is stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The excess of revenue recognised in profit or loss over billings to the purchasers is shown as progress billings 
receivable under trade and other receivables while the excess billing to purchasers over revenue recognised in profit or loss is 
shown as progress billings under trade and other payables. 

	 2.11	C ash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid investments which have 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturities of three months or less.  

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of pledged deposits.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.12	I mpairment 

		  a.	F inancial assets

All financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss, investments in subsidiaries and 
investments in joint ventures) are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. Losses expected as 
a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.  For an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost is an objective evidence of impairment.  

An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments is recognised in profit or loss and 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account.

An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in profit or loss and is 
measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

		  b.	O ther assets

The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories, amount due from contract customers, deferred tax assets, 
investment properties that is measured at fair value and non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale) 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets (known as cash-generating 
unit).  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.12	I mpairment (continued)

		  b.	O ther assets (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit or the group of cash-
generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (or a group of 
cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  Reversals of impairment losses are credited 
to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are recognised.

	 2.13	E quity instruments 

Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured subsequently.

		  a.	I ssue expenses

Costs directly attributable to issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from equity.

	 2.14	E mployee benefits

		  a.	S hort term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick leave are 
measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and 
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

	
		  b.	S tate plans

The Group’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the financial year to which they relate.  
Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.15	 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

 		  a.	C ontingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.  
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within the 
Group, the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the 
Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company 
will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

	 2.16	R evenue and other income

		  a.	 Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discount and volume rebates.  Revenue is recognised when persuasive 
evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return 
of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured 
reliably, then the discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. 

		  b.	S ervices

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss when services are rendered.

		  c.	C onstruction contracts

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive 
payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably.  As soon as the 
outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract cost are recognised in profit 
or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they 
create an asset related to future contract activity.  

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to-date 
bear to the estimated total contract costs. 

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. Any expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.16	R evenue and other income (continued)

		  d.	 Property development

Revenue from property development activities are recognised based on the stage of completion measured by reference to 
the proportion that property development costs incurred for works performed to date bear to the estimated total property 
development costs.

Where the financial outcome of a property development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development cost incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and 
property development cost on the development units sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Any expected loss on a development project, including cost to be incurred over the defect liability period, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

		  e.	R ental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.  Rental 
income from subleased property is recognised as other income.

		  f.	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s or the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

		  g.	I nterest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss except for interest income 
arising from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset which is 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs.
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2.	S ignificant accounting policies (continued) 	

	 2.17	I ncome tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial 
years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases.  Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

	 2.18	E arnings per ordinary share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares (EPS).

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.

	 2.19	O perating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  An 
operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which in this case is the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment
												          
						B      uilding	B uilding		O  ffice 
						      on	 on		 equipment,			 
					F     reehold	 freehold	 leasehold	 Plant &	 furniture	M otor		
	 Group		  land	 land	 land	 machinery	 & fittings	 vehicles	T otal

	 			   Note	RM	RM	RM   	 RM	RM 	 RM	RM

	 Cost/Valuation		

	 At 1 January 2010		  9,884,515	 3,078,588	 15,258,897	 37,083,819	 5,480,173	 15,325,015	 86,111,007

	 Additions		  -      	 -      	 -       	11,179,062	 1,084,935	 2,907,431	 15,171,428

	 Disposal		  -      	 -      	 -       	 (397,833)	 (122,379)	 (947,868)	 (1,468,080)

	 Written off		  -      	 -      	 -       	 (122,631)	 (44,004)	 -	 (166,635)

	 Elimination of 
		  accumulated
		  depreciation 
		  on revaluation		  -      	 (690,431)	 -       	 -      	 -     	 -      	 (690,431)

	 Arising from disposal 
		  of a subsidiary 		  -      	 -      	 -       	 -      	 (147,046)	 (135,000)	 (282,046)

	 Revaluation surplus 
		  recognised in other 
		  comprehensive 
		  income		  2,253,629	 404,927	 -       	 -      	 -      	 -      	 2,658,556

	 Transfer from 
		  investment properties		  -       	 142,672	 -       	 -      	 -      	 -      	 142,672

	 Reclassification		  (4,971)	 4,971	 135,838	 (135,838)	 -      	 -      	 -       

	 Reclassified to 
		  non-current assets 
		  classified as held 
		  for sale	 12	 -       	 -      	(15,394,735)	 -      	 -	 -	 (15,394,735)

	 At 31 December 2010/	
		  1 January 2011		  12,133,173	 2,940,727	 -       	47,606,579	 6,251,679	 17,149,578	 86,081,736
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
												          
						B      uilding	B uilding		O  ffice 
						      on	 on		 equipment,			 
					F     reehold	 freehold	 leasehold	 Plant &	 furniture	M otor		
	 Group		  land	 land	 land	 machinery	 & fittings	 vehicles	T otal

	 				RM	RM	RM      	 RM	RM 	 RM	RM

	 Cost/Valuation
		  (continued)		

	 At 31 December 2010/	
		  1 January 2011		  12,133,173	 2,940,727	 -       	47,606,579	 6,251,679	 17,149,578	 86,081,736

	 Additions		  -        	 -       	 -       	12,601,705	 1,183,524	 3,848,669	 17,633,898

	 Disposals		  -        	 -       	 -       	(4,356,411)	 (36,954)	 (1,690,315)	 (6,083,680)

	 Written off		  -        	 -       	 -       	(1,228,408)	 (638,197)	 (68,528)	 (1,935,133)

	 At 31 December 2011		  12,133,173	 2,940,727	 -       	54,623,465	 6,760,052	 19,239,404	 95,696,821

	 Representing items at:

		  Cost		  -       	 -       	 -       	54,623,465	 6,760,052	 19,239,404	 80,622,921

		  Valuation		  12,133,173	 2,940,727	 -       	 -       	 -       	 -	 15,073,900	

	 At 31 December 2011		  12,133,173	 2,940,727	 -       	54,623,465	 6,760,052	 19,239,404	 95,696,821
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
												          
						B      uilding	B uilding		O  ffice 
						      on	 on		 equipment,			 
					F     reehold	 freehold	 leasehold	 Plant &	 furniture	M otor		
	 Group		  land	 land	 land	 machinery	 & fittings	 vehicles	T otal

	 			   Note	RM	RM	RM   	 RM	RM 	 RM	RM

	 Depreciation

	 At 1 January 2010		  -      	 348,346	 6,997,558	 27,160,150	 3,206,531	 6,762,724	 44,475,309

	 Depreciation charge
		  for the year:

		  - Recognised in profit 
			   or loss	 19	 -      	 342,085	 1,019,232	 336,663	 591,870	 522,238	 2,812,088

		  - Capitalised in property 
			   development costs	 10	 -      	 -      	 -       	 -       	 900	 486	 1,386

		  - Capitalised in 
			   construction	 8
			   contract costs		  -      	 -      	 -       	 566,579	 125,826	 317,407	 1,009,812

					     -      	 342,085	 1,019,232	 903,242	 718,596	 840,131	 3,823,286

	 Disposals		  -      	  -     	 -       	 (277,110)	 (71,816)	 (436,577)	 (785,503)

	 Written off		  -      	 -     	 -       	 (47,878)	 (35,503)	 -      	 (83,381)

	 Elimination of 
		  accumulated
		  depreciation on 
		  revaluation		  -      	 (690,431)	 -       	 -      	 -     	 -      	 (690,431)

	 Arising from disposal 
		  of a subsidiary 		  -      	 -      	 -       	 -      	 (74,341)	 (32,311)	 (106,652)

	 Impairment loss 
		  recognised in 
		  profit or loss	 19	 -      	 3,696	 1,192,151	 -      	 -     	 -      	 1,195,847

	 Reclassification		  -      	 -      	 175,247	 (157,589)	 47,717   	 (65,375)    	 -       

	 Reclassified to 
		  non-current assets 
		  classified as held 
		  for sale	 12	 -       	 -      	(9,384,188)	 -      	 -      	 -      	(9,384,188)

	 At 31 December 2010 / 
		  1 January 2011		  -       	 3,696	 -       	27,580,815	 3,791,184	 7,068,592	 38,444,287
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
												          
						B      uilding	B uilding		O  ffice 
						      on	 on		 equipment,			 
					F     reehold	 freehold	 leasehold	 Plant &	 furniture	M otor		
	 Group		  land	 land	 land	 machinery	 & fittings	 vehicles	T otal

	 			   Note	RM	RM	RM   	 RM	RM 	 RM	RM

	 Depreciation

	 At 1 January 2010		  -      	 348,346	 6,997,558	 27,160,150	 3,206,531	 6,762,724	 44,475,309

	 Depreciation charge
		  for the year:

		  - Recognised in profit 
			   or loss	 19	 -      	 342,085	 1,019,232	 336,663	 591,870	 522,238	 2,812,088

		  - Capitalised in property 
			   development costs	 10	 -      	 -      	 -       	 -       	 900	 486	 1,386

		  - Capitalised in 
			   construction	 8
			   contract costs		  -      	 -      	 -       	 566,579	 125,826	 317,407	 1,009,812

					     -      	 342,085	 1,019,232	 903,242	 718,596	 840,131	 3,823,286

	 Disposals		  -      	  -     	 -       	 (277,110)	 (71,816)	 (436,577)	 (785,503)

	 Written off		  -      	 -     	 -       	 (47,878)	 (35,503)	 -      	 (83,381)

	 Elimination of 
		  accumulated
		  depreciation on 
		  revaluation		  -      	 (690,431)	 -       	 -      	 -     	 -      	 (690,431)

	 Arising from disposal 
		  of a subsidiary 		  -      	 -      	 -       	 -      	 (74,341)	 (32,311)	 (106,652)

	 Impairment loss 
		  recognised in 
		  profit or loss	 19	 -      	 3,696	 1,192,151	 -      	 -     	 -      	 1,195,847

	 Reclassification		  -      	 -      	 175,247	 (157,589)	 47,717   	 (65,375)    	 -       

	 Reclassified to 
		  non-current assets 
		  classified as held 
		  for sale	 12	 -       	 -      	(9,384,188)	 -      	 -      	 -      	(9,384,188)

	 At 31 December 2010 / 
		  1 January 2011		  -       	 3,696	 -       	27,580,815	 3,791,184	 7,068,592	 38,444,287

Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011 (continued)

3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
												          
						B      uilding	B uilding		O  ffice 
						      on	 on		 equipment,			 
					F     reehold	 freehold	 leasehold	 Plant &	 furniture	M otor		
	 Group		  land	 land	 land	 machinery	 & fittings	 vehicles	T otal

	 			   Note	RM	RM	RM   	 RM	RM 	 RM	RM

	 Depreciation
		  (continued)		

	 At 1 January 2011		  -       	 3,696	 -	 27,580,815	 3,791,184	 7,068,592	 38,444,287

	 Depreciation charge 
		  for the year:

		  - Recognised in 
			   profit or loss	 19	 -       	 31,233	 -       	1,088,868	 577,641	 704,528	 2,402,270

		  - Capitalised in 
			   property 
			   development costs	 10	 -       	 -      	 -       	 -	 3,055	 -     	 3,055

		  - Capitalised in	
			   construction contract 	
			   costs	 8	 -       	 -      	 -       	 694,599	 180,312	 400,258	 1,275,169

	

					     -       	 31,233	 -      	 1,783,467	 761,008	 1,104,786	 3,680,494

	 Disposals		  -       	  -    	 -	 (3,334,423)	 (28,356)	 (1,151,541)	 (4,514,320)

	 Written off		  -       	 -    	 -	 (1,219,574)	 (628,818)	 (68,526)	 (1,916,918)

	 At 31 December 2011		  -       	 34,929   	   -	 24,810,285	 3,895,018	 6,953,311	 35,693,543

	 Carrying amounts

	 At 1 January 2010 		  9,884,515	 2,730,242	 8,261,339	 9,923,669	 2,273,642	 8,562,291	 41,635,698

	 At 31 December 2010/
		  1 January 2011    		  12,133,173	 2,937,031	 -	 20,025,764	 2,460,495	 10,080,986	 47,637,449

	 At 31 December 2011		  12,133,173	 2,905,798	 -	 29,813,180	 2,865,034	 12,286,093	 60,003,278
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	 3.1	 Property, plant and equipment under the revaluation model

Had the freehold land and building been carried under the cost model, their carrying amounts would have been as follows:

				    Group	

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

Freehold land	 5,763,816		  5,763,816

Freehold building	 2,247,554		  2,278,787

		  8,011,370		  8,042,603

	 3.2	A ssets under hire purchase

Included in the Group’s additions to property, plant and equipment are assets acquired under hire purchase arrangements (gross) 
as follows:
				    Group	

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

Motor vehicles	 2,536,462		  2,371,323

Plant and machinery	 2,800,946		  - 

		  5,337,408		  2,371,323

Included in the Group’s property, plant and equipment are assets acquired under hire purchase agreements with carrying values 
as follows:				  
				    Group	

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

Motor vehicles	 4,836,335		  5,158,107

Plant and machinery	 2,592,044		  1,286,204

		  7,428,379		  6,444,311

	 3.3	A ssets not available for use

In 2010, included in plant and machinery were certain machinery amounting to RM4,140,309 purchased by the Group of which 
is subject to custom duty to be paid to Royal Malaysian Customs Department.  Accordingly, these assets are not yet available 
for use as at 31 December 2010. Subsequently, the assets were available for use on 11 January 2011 (upon the payment of 
custom duty).
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4.	I nvestment properties

				    Group	

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

At 1 January	 14,900,100	 15,066,927

Additions	 160,000	 -     

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 3)	 -     	 (142,672)

Net loss from fair value adjustments recognised in profit or loss (Note 19)	 -     	 (24,155)

At 31 December	 15,060,100	 14,900,100

Included in the above are:
				    Group	

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

At fair value		

	 Freehold land	 13,944,000	 13,944,000

	 Buildings    	 1,116,100	 956,100

	 4.1	V aluation of investment property

The Directors estimate the fair value of investment properties based on comparable market value of similar properties. Based 
on the Directors’ estimation, the fair value of the investment properties approximates their carrying amounts at 31 December 
2011 and 31 December 2010.

	 4.2	T itles

The Group is in the midst of transferring the titles of investment properties amounting to RM160,000.
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5.	I nvestments in subsidiaries

		  COMPANY

				    2011	 	 2010	
				    RM	 	 RM

Unquoted shares, at cost 	 22,246,070	 22,246,070

Unquoted shares, at valuation	 131,034,272	 131,034,272

		  153,280,342	 153,280,342

		  Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

		  Effective ownership
		  interest

	Name of	C ountry of	 Principal	 2011	 2010
	subsidiaries	 incorporation	 activities	 %	 %

	Direct subsidiaries

	Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Building and civil construction	 100	 100
					       and investment holding

	Loh & Loh Development Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Property development	 100	 100
					       and investment holding

	Water Engineering Technology	 Malaysia	 Trading, contracting	 100	 100
		 Sdn. Bhd.		     and mechanical 
					       and electrical engineering
					       related activities

	Central Icon Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Investment holding and	 90	 90
					       provision of management
					       services

	Subsidiaries of Loh & Loh 
		C onstructions Sdn. Bhd.
	Jutakim Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Civil engineering	 100	 100

	Loh & Loh Sato Kogyo	 Malaysia	 Civil engineering	 -  	 100
		 JV Sdn. Bhd.

	Quality Quarry Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Quarry operation	 68	 68

	Loh & Loh Ikhmas Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Civil engineering	 100	 70
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5.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (continued)

	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

		  Effective ownership
		  interest

	Name of	C ountry of	 Principal	 2011	 2010
	subsidiaries	 incorporation	 activities	 %	 %

	Subsidiaries of Loh & Loh 
		 Development Sdn. Bhd.

	 Turf-Tech Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Property development	 100	 100

	 Green Heights Developments	 Malaysia	 Property development	 100	 100
		 Sdn. Bhd.				  

	 Loh & Loh Sato Kogyo JV Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Civil engineering	 100  	 -  

	Subsidiaries of Water Engineering
		T echnology Sdn. Bhd.	

	 WET Sales and Services	 Malaysia	 Trading and contracting in	 90	 100
		 Sdn. Bhd.		     water related equipment

	 WET O&M Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Maintenance and	 100	 100
					       operation of water and waste 
					       water treatment facilities

	Subsidiary of Central Icon Sdn. Bhd.

	 Ladang Impian Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Cultivation and selling of	 100	 100
				       agricultural produce and 
				       investment holding

	Subsidiaries of Ladang 
		I mpian Sdn. Bhd.

	 Ladang Impian 1 Sdn. Bhd.*	 Malaysia	 Cultivation and selling of	 100	 100
				       agricultural produce

	 Ladang Impian 2 Sdn. Bhd.*	 Malaysia	 Cultivation and selling of	 100	 100
				       agricultural produce

	Subsidiary of Ladang 
		I mpian 1 Sdn. Bhd.

	 Pasarakyat Sdn. Bhd.*	 Malaysia	 Wholesale and retailing	 100	 100
								     

* The subsidiaries have ceased operations during the financial year.	
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5.	I nvestments in subsidiaries (continued) 	

a.	 The unquoted shares are stated at valuation as the Company revalued its investment for a corporate exercise for issuance of 
bonus shares in prior financial years. Subsequent to the first revaluation, the unquoted shares were revalued using the adjusted 
net tangible assets approach in the financial year ended 31 December 2008, resulting in the recognition of revaluation surplus 
amounting to RM55,740,443. 

	 The revaluation reserve at group level comprise cumulative surplus, net of deferred tax effect, arising from the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment above their costs.

b.	 The acquisitions of Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. and Loh & Loh Development Sdn. Bhd. in prior financial years which met 
the criteria for merger accounting under Malaysian Accounting Standard 2 (“MAS2”) were accounted for under that method.  
In accordance with the merger relief provisions of Section 60(4) of the Companies Act, 1965, Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad 
recorded its investments in Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. and Loh & Loh Development Sdn. Bhd. at the nominal value 
of the ordinary shares issued as consideration.  On consolidation, the excess of the carrying values of the investments over 
the nominal value of the shares acquired of RM13,158,519 were taken to merger deficit and was set off against the retained 
earnings.

c.	 On 11 November 2011, Water Engineering Technology Sdn. Bhd. (“WETSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered 
into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Alek Tee Chuan Aik to dispose 100,000 ordinary shares of RM 1 each representing 
10% of the equity interest in WET Sales & Services Sdn. Bhd. (“WSS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of WETSB for a total 
consideration of RM254,800. The sale of the 10% equity interest in WSS did not result in the loss of control.

d.	 On 5 July 2011, Loh & Loh Constructions Sdn. Bhd. (“LLCSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a Sale and 
Purchase Agreement with Ikhmas Jaya Sdn. Bhd. to acquire 400,000 ordinary shares of RM 1 each, representing the remaining 
30% of the equity interest in Loh & Loh Ikhmas Sdn. Bhd. (“LLI”), a subsidiary of LLCSB for a total consideration of RM1. 
Pursuant to the acquisition, LLI became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. 
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6.		O ther investments 

									         QUOTED IN	
							TOTAL	UNQUOTE        D	MALAYSIA	
				    Group			RM	RM	RM    

2011

Current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:			 

			  - Held for trading investments	 8,163,518	 -	 8,163,518

Held-to-maturity investments	 500,000	 500,000	 -    

 									      8,663,518	 500,000	 8,163,518

Representing items at:			 

			  Fair value		 8,163,518	 -	 8,163,518

			  Amortised costs	 500,000	 500,000	 -    

Market value of quoted investments		  500,000 	 8,163,518	

	

2010
Non-current	

Held-to-maturity investments	 500,000	 500,000	 -    

	

Current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:			 

			  - Held for trading investments	 18,578,631	 -     	18,578,631

	

Representing items at:			 

			  Fair value		 18,578,631	 -     	18,578,631

			  Amortised costs	 500,000	 500,000	 -    

Market value of quoted investments		  500,000 	 18,578,631
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6.		O ther investments (continued) 

									         QUOTED IN	
								UNQUOTE        D	MALAYSIA	
				    company				RM	RM    

2011

Current

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:			 

			  - Held for trading investments		  8,158,118     	 8,158,118

Representing items at:			 

			  Fair value			  8,158,118    	 8,158,118 

Market value of quoted investments		      	 8,158,118

	

2010
current	

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:			 

			  - Held for trading investments		  18,573,231    	 18,573,231

Representing items at:				  
			  Fair value			  18,573,231     	18,573,231 

Market value of quoted investments		       	18,573,231
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7.	 Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

Recognised deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

	  				  
	A ssets	L iabilities	N et

	   				     2011	 2010	 2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

					RM	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM         
Group						   

Property, plant and equipment	 -    	 -     	 6,208,812	 3,831,779	 6,208,812	 3,831,779

Leasehold land	 -	 -    	 -	 1,039,744	 -     	 1,039,744

Provisions	 (5,225,754)	 (3,473,997)	 -    	 -    	(5,225,754)	 (3,473,997)

Other items	 (658,214)	 (658,214)	 948,615  	 616,517    	 290,401	 (41,697)

			 

Net tax (assets)/liabilities	 (5,883,968)	 (4,132,211)	 7,157,427	 5,488,040	 1,273,459	 1,355,829

Set-off of tax	 4,593,328	 3,831,342	 (4,593,328)	 (3,831,342)	 -	 -

			 

Net tax (assets)/liabilities	 (1,290,640)	 (300,869)	 2,564,099	 1,656,698	 1,273,459	 1,355,829
			 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

The amounts of unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible temporary differences, of which no deferred 
tax assets are recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

					   
			   Group

									         2011	 2010 

									RM	RM         

Unused tax losses					     10,985,952	 10,842,435    

Unabsorbed capital allowances					     1,147,208	 1,121,761

Other deductible temporary differences					     8,446	 8,446

			 

									         12,141,606	 11,972,642
			 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they have arisen in companies that have a recent history of 
losses or in companies where future taxable profits may be insufficient to trigger the utilisation of these items.
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7.	 Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (continued)

	 Movement in temporary differences during the year

												          
						R      ecognised	A rising
					     Recognised	 in other	 from		  Recognised	
				A    t	 in profit	 comprehensive	d isposal of	A t	 in profit	 Recognised	A t
				    1.1.2010	 or loss	 income	 a subsidiary	 31.12.2010	 or loss	 in equity	 31.12.2011

				RM	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM          

	 Property, plant
		  and equipment	 2,971,653	 876,010	 -      	 (15,884)	 3,831,779	 2,377,033	 -      	6,208,812

	 Leasehold land	 1,236,766	 (197,022)	 -      	 -	 1,039,744	 (1,039,744)	 -      	 -       

	 Provisions	 (2,805,093)	 (668,904)	 -      	 -	 (3,473,997)	 (1,751,757)	 -	 (5,225,754)

	 Others	 (50,461)	 (77,275)	 86,039	 -     	 (41,697)	 196,304	 135,794	 290,401

				    1,352,865	 (67,191)	 86,039	 (15,884)	 1,355,829	 (218,164)	 135,794	 1,273,459
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 8.	T rade and other receivables 

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

	   				     		  2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

						NOTE	RM	RM	RM	RM         
Non-current Trade						    

Trade receivables		  8.1	 18,705,275	 5,673,970	 -       	 -       

Current Trade

Trade receivables		  8.1	 31,802,862	 69,837,320	 -       	 -       

Less: 	 Allowance for impairment loss			   (10,070,331)	 (6,790,463)	 -       	 -   

    

							       21,732,531	 63,046,857	 -       	 -       

Amount due from contract customers		  8.2	 38,436,230	 52,777,649	 -       	 -       

Progress billings receivables		  8.3	 51,929,547	 22,332,621	 -       	 -       

							       112,098,308	 138,157,127	 -       	 -       

Non-trade

Amount due from subsidiaries 		  8.4	 -        	 -      	24,647,051	 16,283,521

Deposits			   950,020	 1,163,006	 -       	 -       

Prepayments			   807,039	 746,898	 -       	 -       

Other receivables		  8.5	 14,541,742	 11,796,632	 2,000	 2,000

							       16,298,801	 13,706,536	 24,649,051	 16,285,521

Less: 	 Allowance for impairment loss			   (657,039)	 (1,081,456) 	 -       	 -       

							       15,641,762	 12,625,080	 24,649,051	 16,285,521

							       127,740,070	 150,782,207	 24,649,051	 16,285,521
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8.	T rade and other receivables (continued)

	 8.1	T rade receivables

Included in trade receivables at 31 December 2011 are retentions of RM26,434,861 (2010: RM14,830,544) relating to construction 
work-in-progress.

Retentions are unsecured, interest-free and are expected to be collected as follows:

	  					   
			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

			   Within 1 year 					     7,729,586	 9,156,574

			   1 - 2 years					     4,790,781	 1,130,230

			   2 - 3 years					     7,009,494	 3,829,008

			   3 - 4 years					     2,669,560	 357,366

	 	 	 4 – 5 years	 	 	 	 	 4,235,440	 357,366

									        26,434,861	 14,830,544

	 8.2	A mount due from contract customers

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

			   Aggregate costs incurred to date				    1,462,030,632	 879,880,883

			   Add: Attributable profit				    229,108,272	 157,697,010

			   Less: Provision for foreseeable losses				    (1,257,025)	 -

								        1,689,881,879	 1,037,577,893

			   Less: Progress billings				    (1,675,006,414)	 (1,048,779,890)

								        14,875,465	 (11,201,997)

			   Amount due to contract customers (Note 15)				    23,560,765	 63,979,646

			   Amount due from contract customers				    38,436,230	 52,777,649

		

			   Included in aggregate costs incurred during the 	financial year are the following significant changes:

			   - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)			   1,275,169	 1,009,812
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8.	T rade and other receivables (continued)

	 8.3	 Progress billings receivables/payables

Progress billings receivables and progress billings payables (Note 15) are in respect of property development activities.

	 8.4	A mount due from subsidiaries

The amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-interest bearing and the term of repayment is on demand.

	 8.5	O ther receivables

Included in other receivables of the Group are:

a.	 Advance payments of RM5,688,146 (2010: RM992,620) to sub-contractors/suppliers of subsidiaries which was paid in  
	 accordance with the terms of the contract.

b.	 Deposit of RM3,359,561 paid for the purchase of land by a subsidiary of the Group. Subsequent to year end, the deposit  
	 has been fully refunded as the purchase was aborted.

9.	I nventories

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

	 At cost:

	 Consumables				    -     	 251,906

	 Water related equipment				    248,329	 258,582

	 Properties held for sale (Note 10)				    -     	 2,811,288

								        248,329	 3,321,776
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10.	 Property development costs 

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

Cumulative property development costs

At 1 January				    107,032,929	 129,140,458

Costs incurred during the year				    71,480,425	 42,966,803

Transfer from land held for property development (Note 15)

	 - Land cost				    -     	 27,847,680

	 - Development costs				    -     	 133,894

Reversal of completed projects     				    -	 (90,244,618)

Transfers to inventories (Note 9)				    -     	 (2,811,288)

At 31 December				    178,513,354	 107,032,929

Cumulative costs recognised in profit or loss

At 1 January				    (38,811,820)	 (86,040,107) 

Recognised during the year				    (76,676,454)	 (43,016,331)

Reversal of completed projects				    -     	 90,244,618

At 31 December				    (115,488,274)	 (38,811,820)

Property development costs				    63,025,080	 68,221,109

Development costs are analysed as follows

Freehold land, at cost				    67,622,924	 66,128,657

Development costs				    110,890,430	 40,904,272

Costs recognised in profit or loss		

	 - prior year				    (38,811,820)	 (86,040,107)

	 - current year (Note 17)				    (76,676,454)	 (43,016,331)

Reversal of completed projects				    -     	 90,244,618

								        63,025,080	 68,221,109

Included in development costs incurred during the financial year are:

	 - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)				    3,055	 1,386
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11.	C ash and cash equivalents 

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Deposits placed with licensed banks			   15,392,421	 57,633,065	 2,671,437	 37,483,158

Cash and bank balances			   121,879,756	 58,209,741	 629,328	 3,895,621

							       137,272,177	 115,842,806	 3,300,765	 41,378,779	

Included in the Group and the Company’s cash and cash equivalents is an amount of RM2,691,378 (2010: RM2,363,110) held in trust 
by a trustee under an investment management agreement for discretionary accounts and are not available for use.	

Included in cash at banks of the Group are amounts of RM11,270,962 (2010: RM11,916,021) held pursuant to Section 7A of the 
Housing Development (Control and Licensing) Act, 1966 and are restricted from use in other operations.

12.	A ssets classified as held for sale 

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

Property, plant and equipment					     -     	 6,010,547

Interest in leasehold land					     -     	 2,727,942

									         -     	 8,738,489

			 

In the previous financial year, asset classified as held for sale was in relation to the interest in leasehold land and building on leasehold 
land owned by a subsidiary of the Group. 

On 6 December 2010, Ladang Impian 1 Sdn. Bhd. (“LI1”), a subsidiary of the Group, received a termination notice from the registered 
proprietor of the land in relation to the Lease Agreement dated 1 January 2003 executed by LI1 and Federal Land Commissioner.  Under 
Clause 6(2) of the Lease Agreement, a six months’ notice period was required to terminate the lease.

During the year, LI1 entered into a Mutual Settlement Agreement with the registered proprietor of the land that resulted in the 
discharge of the of its interest in the land and building for a total compensation of RM35,000,000.

Consequently, a gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale amounting to RM26,261,511 was recognised during the year.
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13.	S hare capital and reserves 

GROUP AND COMPANY						   
		  Group	C ompany

								N        umber		N  umber
							A       mount	 of shares	A mount	 of shares

							       2011	 2011	 2010	 2010

							RM		RM	        
	

Authorised:

	 Ordinary shares of RM1 each		  100,000,000	 100,000,000	 100,000,000	 100,000,000	
			 

Issued and fully paid shares classified as equity instruments:

	 Ordinary shares of RM1 each		  68,000,000	 68,000,000	 68,000,000	 68,000,000

			 

Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per share 
at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

Section 108 tax credit

Since 2008, the Company has chosen to frank dividends under the single tier company income tax system. As such, the remaining 
Section 108 tax credit of the Company is no longer available to the Company. 
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14.	L oans and borrowings

					   
			   Group

									         2011	 2010 

									RM	RM         

Non-current

Finance lease liability					     2,454,017	 1,029,970

			 

Current

Finance lease liability					     1,861,616	 946,024

			 

											         
									         4,315,633	 1,975,994
			 

The average discount rate implicit in the leases ranging between 4.16% and 7.42% (2010: 2.46% and 7.10%) per annum

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

	  			 

	  						      Present			   Present
					F     uture		  value of	F uture		  value of
					     minimum		  minimum	 minimum		  minimum	
					     lease 		  lease	 lease		  lease
GROUP	p ayments	I nterest	p ayments	p ayments	I nterest	p ayments

	   				     2011	 2011	 2011	 2010	 2010	 2010

					RM	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM         

Less than one year	 2,042,744	 181,128	 1,861,616	 1,035,119	 89,095	 946,024

Between one and five years	 2,661,905	 207,888	 2,454,017	 1,082,692	 52,722	 1,029,970

			 

					     4,704,649	 389,016	 4,315,633	 2,117,811	 141,817	 1,975,994

			 



84 LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011 (continued)

15.	T rade and other payables  

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Non-current Trade

Trade payables		  15.1	 20,229,838	 13,147,401	 -      	 -       

			 

Current Trade

Trade payables		  15.1	 21,502,935	 41,547,530	 -       	 -       

Amount due to contract customers		  8.2	 23,560,765	 63,979,646	    

Progress billings payables		  8.3	 -	 1,914,853	    

Amounts due to related party 		  15.2	 345,839	 1,500,000	 -       	 -       

							       45,409,539	 108,942,029	 -       	 -       

	

Non-trade

Other payables		  15.3	 109,820,997	 53,370,766	 25,336,783	 4,006,957

Accruals and provisions			   6,321,819	 7,151,498	 397,013	 1,800 

Amount due to subsidiaries		  15.2	 -       	 -	 9,494,149	 39,698,440

							       116,142,816	 60,522,264	 35,227,945	 43,707,197

							       161,552,355	 169,464,293	 35,227,945	 43,707,197

			 

	 15.1	T rade payables

Included in trade payables at 31 December 2011 are:

a. 	 Retention sums payable amounting to RM20,229,838 (2010: RM13,147,401).
b.	 Provision for liquidated and ascertained damages (LAD) amounting to RM3,427,000 (2010: RM3,427,000)
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15.	T rade and other payables (continued) 

	 15.2	A mount due to subsidiaries and related party

The amounts due to subsidiaries and related party (non-controlling interest of certain subsidiaries of the Group) are unsecured, 
interest free and repayable on demand.

	 15.3	O ther payables

Included in other payables of the Group are advances received from contract customers of a subsidiary amounting to RM74,426,486 
(2010: RM46,247,506) in accordance with terms of the contracts.

16.	R evenue

		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Construction contracts			   190,039,003	 173,409,926	 -      	 -       

Property development 			   110,880,189	 57,243,523	 -      	 -       

Sale of goods			   14,298,544	 16,698,116	 -      	 -       

Sale of investments			   312,391	 50,870,318	 312,391	 50,870,318

Rental income from revenue 	generating investment property		  101,000	 96,000	 -      	 -       

Finance income			   357,308	 988,321	 357,308	 988,321

Dividends:

	 - subsidiaries			   -       	 -	 24,000,000	 36,000,000

	 - other investments, quoted in Malaysia			   174,488	 162,051	 174,488	 162,051

							       316,162,923	 299,468,255	 24,844,187	 88,020,690
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17.	C ost of sales   

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Construction contract costs			   153,930,513	 125,717,922	 -       	 -       

Property development costs (Note 10)			   76,676,454	 43,016,331	 -       	 -       

Sale of goods sold			   10,009,556	 13,483,866	 -       	 -       

Cost relating to investing activity			   112,161	 49,146,164	 112,161	 49,146,164

Rental expense from revenue generating investment property		  58,386	 33,497	 -      	 -  

							       240,787,070	 231,397,780	 112,161	 49,146,164   

			 

18.	O ther income

		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Rental income			   365,184	 1,535,346	 -       	 -       

Finance income from:

	 - short term deposits			   2,092,666	 761,549	 -       	 -       

	 - loans and receivables			   50,469	 1,204,604	 -       	 -       

Net fair value gains on financial instruments

	 - held for trading investment securities			   -       	 743,835	 -       	 743,835

Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for sale			   26,261,511	 -      	 -       	 -      

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment			   352,786	 101,078	 -       	 -      

Reversal of impairment loss on

	 - quoted investment			   -      	 37,395	 -      	 37,395 

	 - trade receivables			   1,484,215     	 65,599	 -      	 -       

	 - other receivables			   424,417	 18,630	 -     	 -   

Unrealised foreign exchange gain			   728,479     	 -	 -	 -
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19.	 Profit before tax   

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Profit before tax is arrived after charging: 

Auditors’ remuneration:

	 - Audit fees

	  	 KPMG Malaysia			   242,500	 -      	 25,000	 -       

	  	 Other auditors			   -      	 212,000	 -      	 22,000

	 - Under provision in prior years			   42,000     	 19,450	 10,000  	 10,450

Amortisation of interest in leasehold land			   -      	 467,647	 -      	 -      

Impairment loss on interest in leasehold land			   -      	 545,588	 -      	 -      

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables			   4,764,083	 279,839	 -      	 -      

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary			   -      	 149,588	 -      	 -      

Property, plant and equipment

	 - depreciation			   2,402,270	 2,812,088	 -      	 -      

	 - written off			   18,215	 83,254	 -      	 -      

	 - impairment loss			   -      	1,195,847	 -      	 -      

Personnel expenses

	 - wages, salaries and others			   25,371,939	 24,530,396	 350,834	 311,000

	 - contribution to state plans			   2,576,338	 2,521,794	 -      	 -      

Provision for foreseeable losses			   1,257,025	 -      	 -      	 -      

Provision for contingent liabilities			   -      	 125,000	 -      	 -     

Rental of plant and equipment			   -	 52,300	 -      	 -      

Rental of premises			   85,800	 54,900	 -      	 -  

Net fair value loss on financial instruments

	 - held for trading investment securities			   451,602   	 -	 451,602   	 -

Fair value loss on a investment property			   -      	 24,155	 -      	 -      

Loss on disposal of other long term investments			   -      	 144,525	 -      	 -           

	

and after crediting
	 (other income disclosure items 	disclosed in Note 18) :

Reversal of provision for foreseeable losses			   -      	 (294,989)	 -      	 -
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20.	 Key management personnel compensation

	 The key management personnel compensations are as follows:  

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Directors:

	 - Fees			   453,834	 431,000	 350,834	 311,000

	 - Remuneration			   5,387,977	 3,536,914	 -    	 -    

	 - Contributions to state plans 			   654,165	 403,816	 -    	 -    

							       6,495,976	 4,371,730	 350,834	 311,000    

			 

Other key management personnel comprise persons other than the Directors of Group entities, having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group entities either directly or indirectly.

The estimated monetary value of Directors’ benefit-in-kind is RM134,546 (2010: RM80,392).
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21.	I ncome tax expense

	R ecognised in profit or loss   

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

Current tax expense

Malaysian   - current			   12,951,233	 10,091,932	 -     	 -

				          - prior year			   557,653	 (635,845)	 191,111	  (203,995)	

Total current tax recognised in the profit or loss			   13,508,886	 9,456,087	 191,111	 (203,995)

Deferred tax assets

Origination and reversal of temporary differences	

		  - current			   1,772,247	 1,192,331	 -     	 -     

		  - prior year			   (1,990,411)	 (1,259,522)	  -     	 -     

Total deferred tax recognised in profit or loss			   (218,164)	 (67,191)	 -     	 -     

Total income tax 			   13,290,722	 9,388,896	 191,111	 (203,995)

			 

Reconciliation of tax expense

Profit before tax			   74,673,516	 44,108,381	 23,400,428	 38,661,835

			 

Tax at Malaysian tax rate of 25%			   18,668,379	 11,027,095	 5,850,107	 9,665,459

Non-deductible expenses			   1,820,530	 1,539,776	 219,373	 96,559

Non-taxable income			   (6,057,546)	 (950,180)	 (6,155,940)	 (9,843,376)

Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of deductible
	 temporary differences			   357,906	 81,971	 86,460	 81,358

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets			   (65,790)       	(414,399)	 -     	 -      

(Over)/Underprovision of income tax in prior years			   557,653	 (635,845)	 191,111	 (203,995)

Overprovision of deferred tax in prior year			   (1,990,411)	 (1,259,522)	 -     	 -      

							       13,290,722	 9,388,896	 191,111	 (203,995)   

Non taxable income of the Group and of the Company mainly relates to gain on disposal of non-current asset held for sale amounting 
to RM26,261,511 (2010:Nil) and dividend income of RM24,000,000 (2010: RM35,000,000) respectively.
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22.	E arnings per ordinary share

The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share at 31 December 2011 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders				    58,780,514	 34,786,467	
			 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 	

									         2011	 2010

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January				    68,000,000	 68,000,000

Effect of treasury shares held	 	 	 	 -      	 -     

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 	at 31 December			   68,000,000	 68,000,000

			 

									         2011	 2010

									SEN	SEN         

Basic earnings per ordinary share				    86	 51

			 

23.	 Dividends

Dividends recognised by the Company are as follows:

							S       en	T otal
							p       er share	 amount	 Date of
							       (net of tax)	RM	p  ayment

2011

Interim 2010 ordinary			   44.11	 30,000,000	 11 March 2011

Interim 2011 ordinary			   36.76	 25,000,000	   3 January 2012

Total amount				    55,000,000

				 

2010

Final 2009 ordinary			   10.00	 5,099,998	 18 June 2010
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24.	Op erating segments

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.  The strategic business 
units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing 
strategies.  For each of the strategic business units, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the chief operating decision maker) reviews 
internal management reports at least on a quarterly basis.  The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s 
reportable segments:

•	 Construction
•	 Investment holdings
•	 Trading
•	 Property development

Non-reportable segment of the Group comprise operations related to rental of investment property.

There are varying levels of integration between reportable segments. This integration includes construction of buildings. Inter-segment 
pricing is determined on negotiated basis.  The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as described in Note 2.19.

Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax, interest, depreciation and amortisation, as included in the internal 
management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the chief operating decision maker).  Segment profit is 
used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain 
segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

Segment assets

The total of segment asset is measured based on all assets of a segment, as included in the internal management reports that are 
reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.  Segment total asset is used to measure the return of assets of each segment.

Segment liabilities

The total segment liabilities is measured based on all liabilities of a segment, as included in the internal management reports that are 
reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

Segment capital expenditure

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire property, plant and equipment.
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24.	Op erating segments (continued)

								        Property
					C     onstruction	I nvestments	T rading	d evelopment	E liminations	T otal

	 2011		RM	RM	RM	RM     	RM 	 RM

	R evenue

	 External customers	 190,039,003	 945,187	 14,298,544	 110,880,189	 -      	316,162,923

	 Inter-segment	 81,206,412	 24,372,000	 340	 (1,119,783)	 (104,458,971)	 -        

	 Total revenue	 271,245,415	 25,317,187	 14,298,884	 109,760,406	 (104,458,971)	 316,162,923

	 Results

	 Segment results (external)	 21,883,272	 23,400,428	 53,524,147	 28,736,445	 (52,597,319)	 74,946,975

	 Finance costs						      (273,457)

	 Income tax expense						      (13,290,722)

					   

	 Segment profit						      61,382,796

	

	 Assets

	 Segment assets	 207,950,805	 201,288,872	 50,740,879	 142,849,200	 (170,994,255)	 431,835,501

	 Unallocated assets						      16,912,853

					   

	 Total assets						      448,748,354

	

	L iabilities

	 Segment liabilities	 163,239,333	 26,917,057	 5,956,192	 809,164	 (10,744,184)	 186,177,562

	 Unallocated liabilities						      3,117,048

					   

	 Total liabilities						      189,294,610
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24.	Op erating segments (continued)

								        Property
					C     onstruction	I nvestments	T rading	d evelopment	E liminations	T otal

	 2011		RM	RM	RM	RM     	RM 	 RM

	 Other information

	 Capital expenditure	 16,831,469	 -      	 354,825	 447,604	 -      	 17,633,898

	 Property, plant and 
		  equipment written off
		  (Note 3)	 18,219	 -      	 -      	 -      	 -      	 18,219

	 Depreciation of property, 
		  plant and equipment

		  - profit or loss (Note 3)	 2,082,426	 -      	 184,190	 135,654	 -      	 2,402,270

		  - capitalised in 
			   construction contract
			   costs (Note 8)	 1,275,169	 -      	 -     	 -     	 -      	 1,275,169

		  - capitalised in property 
			   development costs
			   (Note 10)	 -      	 -      	 -     	 3,055	 -      	 3,055

	 2010		

	R evenue

	 External customers	 160,412,850	 52,116,690	 19,998,026	 60,591,868	 -        	293,119,434

	 Inter-segment	 46,198,435	 36,524,000	 -       	 -       	(76,373,614)	 6,348,821        

			 

	 Total revenue	 206,611,285	 88,640,690	 19,998,026	 60,591,868	 (76,373,614)	 299,468,255	

	 Results

	 Segment results (external)	 33,392,393	 38,661,835	 705,997	 14,879,960	 (43,194,035)	 44,446,150

	 Finance costs						      (337,769)

	 Income tax expense						      (9,388,896)

					   

	 Segment profit						      34,719,485

	

	 Assets

	 Segment assets	 177,656,541	 241,638,589	 22,346,646	 119,238,682	 (126,683,919)	 434,196,539

	 Unallocated assets						      4,175,261

					   

	 Total assets						      438,371,800
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24.	Op erating segments (continued)

								        Property
					C     onstruction	I nvestments	T rading	d evelopment	E liminations	T otal

	 2010		RM	RM	RM	RM     	RM 	 RM

	L iabilities

	 Segment liabilities	 142,644,752	 4,008,756	 3,729,871	 2,889,621	 31,479,806	 184,752,806

	 Unallocated liabilities						      2,068,936

					   

	 Total liabilities						      186,821,742

	

	 Other information

	 Capital expenditure	 14,806,493	 -       	 241,725	 123,210	 -       	 15,171,428

	 Property, plant and
		  equipment written off
		  (Note 3)	 83,254	 -       	 -      	 -      	 -       	 83,254

	 Depreciation of property, 
		  plant and equipment

		  - profit or loss (Note 3)	 1,714,619	 -       	 1,019,232	 78,237	 -       	 2,812,088

		  - capitalised in 
			   construction contract
			   costs (Note 8)	 1,099,812	 -       	 -      	 -      	 -       	 1,009,812

		  - capitalised in property 
			   development
			   costs  (Note 10)	 -      	 -       	 -      	 1,386	 -       	 1,386

	 Amortisation of interest in 
		  leasehold land	 -      	 -       	 467,647	 -      	 -       	 467,647
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25.	F inancial instruments 

	 25.1	C ategories of financial instruments

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:

a. 	 Loans and receivables (L&R);
b. 	 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
		  - Held for trading (HFT),
c. 	 Held-to-maturity investment (HTM), and
d. 	 Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (OL).   

							C       arrying		FVT  PL

							       amount	L &R	 - HFT	HTM

	 2011				RM	RM	RM	RM      

	F inancial assets 
	 Group

	 Other investments			   8,663,518	 -       	8,163,518	 500,000

	 Trade and other receivables			   145,638,310	 145,638,310	 -       	 -

	 Cash and cash equivalents			   137,272,177	 137,272,177	 -       	 -

	

							       291,574,005	 282,910,487	 8,163,518	 500,000

	

	C ompany

	 Other investments			   8,158,118	 -       	8,158,118	 -

	 Trade and other receivables			   24,649,051	 24,649,051	 -       	 -       

	 Cash and cash equivalents			   3,300,765	     3,300,765	 -       	 -

	

							       36,107,934	 27,949,816	 8,158,118	 -       

	

									C         arrying	

									         amount	OL

	 2011						RM	RM      

	 Financial liabilities 

	 Group					   

	 Loans and borrowings					     4,315,633	 4,315,633

	 Trade and other payables					     181,782,193	 181,782,193

		

									         186,097,826	 186,097,826

		

	 Company

	 Trade and other payables					     35,227,945	 35,227,945
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.1	C ategories of financial instruments (continued)

	  			 

							C       arrying		FVT  PL

							       amount	L &R	 - HFT	HTM

	 2010				RM	RM	RM	RM      

	F inancial assets 

	 Group

	 Other investments			   19,078,631	 -       	18,578,631	 500,000

	 Trade and other receivables			   155,709,279	 155,709,279	 -      	 -   

	 Cash and cash equivalents			   115,842,806	 115,842,806	 -      	 -

	

							       290,630,716	 271,552,085	 18,578,631	 500,000

	

	C ompany

	 Other investments			   18,573,231	 -       	18,573,231	 - 

  	Trade and other receivables			   16,285,521	 16,285,521	 -      	 -   

	 Cash and cash equivalents			   41,378,779	 41,378,779	 -     	 -      

	

							       76,237,531	 57,664,300	 18,573,231	 -       

	

									C         arrying	

									         amount	OL

	 2010						RM	RM      

	 Financial liabilities 

	 Group					   

	 Loans and borrowings					     1,975,994	 1,975,994

	 Trade and other payables					     182,611,694	 182,611,694

		

									         184,587,688	 184,587,688

		

	 Company

	 Trade and other payables					     43,707,197	 43,707,197
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.2	N et gains and losses arising from financial instruments   

	  				  
		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

			   Net gains/(losses) on:

				    Fair value through profit or loss:

				          - Held for trading			   (451,602)	 781,230	 (451,602)	 781,230

				    Loans and receivables			   373,471	 2,758,864	 357,308    	 988,321    

				    Financial liabilities 			   (273,457)	 (337,769)

							       (351,588)	 3,202,325	 (94,294)	 1,769,551

			 

	 25.3	F inancial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk
•	 Market risk
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.4	C redit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from trade and other receivables. The Company’s 
exposure to credit risk arises principally from balances outstanding from subsidiaries.

		R  eceivables

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk	
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  Normally credit 
evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is represented by the carrying 
amounts in the statement of financial position.

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the industry sector profile of its trade receivables on an 
ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date are as follows:

			   Group

	   				     				    2011	 2010

									RM	RM         

			   Constructions				    30,908,202	 60,530,130

			   Property development				    7,415,276	 6,158,161

			   Trading				    1,194,332	 1,568,151

			   Others				    919,996	 464,385     

								        40,437,806	 68,720,827

			 

Approximately 65% (2010: 76%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 5 major customers located in Malaysia.

Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are stated at their 
realisable values.  A significant portion of these receivables are regular customers that have been transacting with the Group.  
The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables.  Any receivables having significant balances past 
due more than 120 days, which are deemed to have higher credit risk, are monitored individually.
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.4	C redit risk (continued)

Impairment losses
The ageing of receivables as at the end of the reporting period was:

									I         ndividual
								        Gross	 impairment	N et

			   Group				RM	RM	RM     

			   2011

			   Not past due			   24,883,078	 -     	 24,883,078

	 	 	 Past due 0 – 30 days	 	 	 12,360,233	 	 12,360,233

	 	 	 Past due 31 – 120 days	 	 	 -      	 -     	 -

			   Past due more than 120 days			   13,264,826	 (10,070,331)	 3,194,495	

							       50,508,137	 (10,070,331)	 40,437,806

			 

			   2010

			   Not past due			   48,793,772		  48,793,772

	 	 	 Past due 0 – 30 days	 	 	 10,325,287	 	 10,325,287

	 	 	 Past due 31 – 120 days	 	 	 3,942,258	 	 3,942,258

			   Past due more than 120 days			   12,449,973	 (6,790,463)	 5,659,510

							       75,511,290	 (6,790,463)	 68,720,827
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.4	C redit risk (continued)

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of receivables during the financial year were:

		  Group	C ompany

							       2011	 2010	 2011	 2010

							RM	RM	RM	RM         

			   At 1 January			   6,790,463	 6,576,223	 -     	 -     

			   Impairment loss recognised			   4,764,083	 279,839	 -     	 -     

			   Impairment loss reversed			   (1,484,215)	 (65,599)	 -     	 -     

			   At 31 December			   10,070,331	 6,790,463	 -     	 -    

			 

The allowance account in respect of receivables is used to record impairment losses.  Unless the Group is satisfied that recovery 
of the amount is possible, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivable directly.

		I  nvestments and other financial assets

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to or better than the 
Group. 

Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has only invested in domestic securities.  The maximum exposure to credit risk 
is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

In view of the sound credit rating of counterparties, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  
The Group does not have overdue investments that have not been impaired. 

The investments and other financial assets are unsecured.

		I  nter company balances

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiaries.  The Company monitors the results of the subsidiaries regularly.

Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the 
statement of financial position.

Impairment losses
As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the advances to the subsidiaries are not recoverable.  The 
Company does not specifically monitor the ageing of current advances to the subsidiaries.  Nevertheless, these advances have 
been overdue for less than a year. 
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.5	L iquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group’s exposure to 
liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables, loans and borrowings.

The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed adequate by the management to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

Maturity analysis
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the 
reporting period based on undiscounted contractual payments:	

	 			 
							C       arrying	C ontractual	C ontractual	U nder 1	 1 - 5	
							       amount	 interest rate/	 cash flows	 year	 years

					     Group		RM	   coupon	 RM	RM 	 RM

					     2011

					     Non-derivative financial 
					     liabilities

					     Finance lease liabilities		  4,315,633	 4.16% - 7.42%	 4,704,649	 2,042,744	 2,661,905

					     Trade and other payables		  181,782,193	 -	 180,446,680	 161,552,355	 18,894,325

	 	

							       186,097,826		  185,151,329	 163,595,099	 21,556,230

	 	

					     2010

					     Non-derivative financial 
					     liabilities

					     Finance lease liabilities		  1,975,994	 2.46% - 7.10%	 2,117,811	 1,035,119	 1,082,692

					     Trade and other payables		  182,611,694	 -	 182,372,979	 169,464,293	 12,908,686

	 	

							       184,587,688		  184,490,790	 170,499,412	 13,991,378

	 	
					COM     PANY
					     2011
					     Non-derivative financial
					     liabilities

					     Trade and other payables		  35,227,945	 -	 35,227,945	 35,227,945	 -   

	 	
					     2010
					N     on-derivative financial
					     liabilities

					     Trade and other payables		  43,707,197	 -	 43,707,197	 43,707,197	 -
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.6	M arket risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other prices that will 
affect the Group’s financial position or cash flows.

		  a. 	C urrency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities.  The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily U.S. 
Dollar (USD), and Japanese Yen (JPY).

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

Exposures to foreign currency risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group does not use any forward contracts to 
hedge against its exposure to foreign currency risk as the foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other 
than functional currency of the Group are kept to an acceptable level.

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the currency of the Group entities) risk, based 
on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

			   Denominated in

	   				     				US    D	 JPY

					     Group					RM	RM     

					     2011

					     Trade receivables					     826,020	 3,366,096

					     Cash and bank balances					     -        	 3,474,789    

					     Net exposure					     826,020	 6,840,885

					     2010

					     Cash and bank balances					     -    	 6,684,491     

					     Net exposure					     -    	 6,684,491
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.6	M arket risk (continued)

		  a. 	C urrency risk (continued)

Currency risk sensitivity analysis

A 10% (2010: 10%) strengthening of the RM against the following currencies at the end of the reporting period would 
have increased (decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular interest rates, remained constant and ignores any impact of forecasted sales and purchases. 

			   Profit or loss

	   				     				    2011	 2010

					     Group					RM	RM     

					     USD					     (61,951)	 -    

					     JPY					     (513,066)	 (501,337)

	

A 10% (2010: 10%) weakening of RM against the above currencies at the end of the reporting period would have had 
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 
remained constant.

		  b. 	I nterest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing financial assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s investments in financial assets are mainly short 
term in nature and are not held for speculative purposes and include funds in fixed deposit or funds in asset management 
companies which yield better returns than cash at bank.
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.6	M arket risk (continued)

		  c. 	O ther price risk

Equity price risk arises from the Group’s investments in equity securities.

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
Management of the Group monitors the equity investments on a portfolio basis.  Material investments within the portfolio 
are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Board of Directors.

Equity price risk sensitivity analysis
This analysis assumes that all other variables remained constant and the Group’s equity investments moved in correlation 
with FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI (FBMKLCI).

A 10% (2010: 10%) strengthening in FBMKLCI at the end of the reporting period would have increased post-tax profit or 
loss by RM612,264 for investment classified as fair value through profit or loss (2010: RM1,393,397).  A 10% (2010: 10%) 
weakening in FBMKLCI would have had equal but opposite effect on equity and profit or loss respectively.

	 25.7	F air value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short term receivables and payables and short term borrowings approximate 
fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

For non-current receivables and payables, the fair value is estimated by discounting the estimated future cash flows at the 
applicable discounting rates.

The fair values of other financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial 
position, are as follows:

		  2011	 2010

							C       arrying	F air	C arrying	F air
							       amount	 value	 amount	 value

			   Group			RM	RM	RM	RM     

			   Held for trading investments			   8,163,518	 8,163,518	 18,578,631	 18,578,631

			   Finance lease liabilities			   (4,315,633)	 (4,704,649)	 (1,975,994)	 (2,117,811)    

			 

			C   ompany		

			   Held for trading investments			   8,158,118	 8,158,118	 18,573,231	 18,573,231	
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25.	F inancial instruments (continued)

	 25.7	F air value of financial instruments (continued)

The following summarises the methods used in determining the fair value of financial instruments reflected in the above table.

Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair values of financial assets that are quoted in an active market are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid 
price at the end of the reporting period.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

Interest rates used to determine fair value
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are as follows:

								        2011		  2010

	 	 	 	 Finance leases	 	 	 	4.16% – 7.42%	 2.46% – 7.10%

		  a.	F air value hierarchy

Comparative figures have not been presented for 31 December 2010 by virtue of the exemption provided in paragraph 
44G of FRS 7.

The table below analyses the financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have 
been defined as follows:

•	 Level 1:	Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	 Level 2:	Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either  
		  directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•	 Level 3:	Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

							L       evel 1 	L evel 2	L evel 3	T otal

			   2011			RM	RM	RM	RM     

			   Group FInancial assets

			   Held for trading investments			   231,843	 7,931,675	 -	 8,163,518

		

			C   ompany Financial assets

			   Held for trading investments			   226,443	 7,931,675	 -	 8,158,118
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26.	C apital management 	

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The 
Directors monitor and are determined to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory 
requirements.

The debt-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2011 and at 31 December 2010 were as follows:

			   GROUP

	   				     				    2011	 2010

Group						RM	R       M

Total borrowings (Note 14)				    4,315,633	 1,975,994

Trade and other payables (Note 15)				    181,782,193	 182,611,694

Less:  Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11)				    (137,272,177)	 (115,842,806)

Net debt						     48,825,649	 68,744,882

Total equity 				    259,453,742	 251,550,058   

Debt-to-equity ratios				    0.19	 0.27

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.  

27.	C ontingent liabilities 

			   GROUP

	   				     				    2011	 2010

										RM	R           M

Guarantees given to banks for Group’s 

	  performance/tender guarantees granted to customers				    275,855,604	 121,495,779

The Company had given guarantee to banks amounting to RM497,575,000 (2010: RM321,950,000) for banking facilities extended to 
subsidiaries of which RM275,855,604 (2010: RM121,495,779) have been utilised as at 31 December 2011.
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28.	 Jointly controlled entity	                  

Details of an unincorporated joint venture held by a subsidiary of the Group are as follows:

		  Effective ownership
		  interest

	 Name of jointly	C ountry of		  Principal	 2011	 2010
	 controlled entity	 incorporation		  activities	 %	 %

	 Water Engineering 	 Malaysia	 	 	 Project management in	 50	 50
		  Technology Sdn. Bhd.-				       relation to sewage treatment
	 	 Envitech Sdn. Bhd. JV	 	 	 	    plants	

The Group’s aggregate share of net assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the jointly controlled entity is as follows:

			COM   PANY

	   				     				    2011	 2010

										RM	R           M

Current assets				    894,453	 1,492,792

Current liabilities				    (63,266)	 (132,719)

Net assets					     831,187	 1,360,073

Revenue					     -      	 41,725  

Expenses	 	 	 	 	 -      	 (46,041)
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29.	R elated parties

Identity of related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or the Company if the Group or the 
Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial 
and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are subject to common control or common 
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. Key management personnel includes all the Directors of the Group, and certain 
members of senior management of the Group.

The significant related party transactions of the Group and the Company, other than key management personnel compensation (see 
Note 20), are as follows:

		  a.		 Transaction with related parties

			   GROUP

	   				     				    2011	 2010

										RM	R           M

		  Purchase of goods from Swisslane Granite Sdn. Bhd.,

				    a company in which directors of a subsidiary have equity interest			   22,394	 216,639

		  Reimbursable expenses paid to UBG Berhad, 

				    the holding company of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad			   -     	 126,140

	 	 Progress billings payable to Saroma Engineering Sdn. Bhd., 

				    corporate shareholder of a subsidiary				    1,447,277	 -

The Directors of the Group and the Company are of the opinion that the above transactions have been entered into in the normal 
course of business and the terms have been established on a negotiated basis.
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Statement by directors 
pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 45 to 108 are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Y.A.M. Tengku Dato’ Rahimah	  			L   oh Kim Kah
binti Almarhum Sultan Mahmud

Kuala Lumpur,
Date: 29 May 2012

Statutory declaration 
pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, Loh Kim Kah, the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely 
declare that the financial statements set out on pages 45 to 108 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Loh Kim Kah

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named in Kuala Lumpur on 29 May 2012 before me.

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
W 378
K.NERMALA
No.50-10-1, Tingkat 10,
Wisma UOA Damansara,
No.50, Jalan Dungun, 
Bukit Damansara,
50490 Kuala Lumpur
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 
December 2011 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the 
Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as 
set out on pages 45 to 108.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, and for such internal control as the Directors determine are 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies 
Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2011 
and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Loh & Loh Corporation Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

a.	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries 
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

b.	 We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements are in form 
and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received 
satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

c.	 Our audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 
174(3) of the Act.

Other Matters

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2010 were audited by another auditor 
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 April 2011.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

KPMG			A   hmad Nasri Abdul Wahab

Firm Number:  AF 0758	 Approval Number: 2919/03/14(J)
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya, 
Date: 29 May 2012
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List of properties

			   APPROX.		NET   BOOK
	 DESCRIPTION		A  GE OF	A PPROXIMATE	VALUE  AS AT	 DATE OF
	AN D		BUIL  DING	LAN D AREA/	 31.12.2011	LAST
LOCATION	EXISTIN G USE	TENURE	  (YEARS)	UNITS	  (RM’000)	VALUATION

LOH & LOH CONSTRUCTIONS 
SDN BHD
Grant 14428 Lot 47626	 Two units	 Freehold	 20.5	 298 sq metres	 5,100	 2010
Grant 14429 Lot 47627	 adjoining four
19 & 21, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7,	 storey shophouses
Taman Sri Hartamas,	 used as office 
building
50480 Kuala Lumpur

Grant 28522 Lot 4474	 Vacant	 Freehold	 n/a	 15.940 acres	 3,819	 2010
Mukim of Hulu Bernam Timur,	 industrial land
District of Batang Padang, Perak

LOH & LOH DEVELOPMENT 
SDN BHD
Lots 592,593,594,585,586,595,596	 Vacant land	 Freehold	 n/a	 30.993 acres	 10,125	 2010
and 1327-1329, Mukim of Setul,
District of Seremban, Negeri Sembilan

Lot 3828 CT No.6177	 Storeyard &	 Freehold	 n/a	 11.0 acre	 3,150	 2010
Mukim Setul, District of Seremban,	 workshop
Negeri Sembilan

Unit No 1551, Awana Condominium,	 Vacant apartment	 Freehold	 20	 1,258 sq feet	 380	 2010
Genting Highlands, HS (D) 2078
PT No.2157/95 District of Bentung,
Negeri Pahang

Geran 58854 Lot 64268 in	 3 storey	 Freehold	 10.6	 23,838 sq feet	 4,896	 2010
Mukim Damansara,	 semi-detached
Daerah Petaling, Selangor	 factory building
20, Jalan Astaka U8/83,	 for rent
Seksyen U8, Bukit Jelutong,
40150 Shah Alam

Grant 14430 Lot 47628	 One unit four	 Freehold	 20.5	 149 sq metres	 2,500	 2010
23, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7,	 storey shophouses
Taman Sri Hartamas,	 used as office
50480 Kuala Lumpur	 building

The properties were revalued by a registered valuer with Henry Butcher Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Valuation was made using comparison method on the basis 
of current market value.

As at 31 December 2011
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Group directory

LOH & LOH CORPORATION BERHAD

LOH & LOH CONSTRUCTIONS SDN BHD

LOH & LOH DEVELOPMENT SDN BHD

19, 21 & 23, Jalan Sri Hartamas 7, 
Taman Sri Hartamas,
50480 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
Tel 	 : +603 - 6201 3888, 6201 4777
Fax 	: +603 - 6201 2112, 6201 1010
Email: info@loh-loh.com.my
Website: www.loh-loh.com.my

WATER ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGY SDN BHD

WET SALES & SERVICES SDN BHD

WET O&M SDN BHD

20, Jalan Astaka U8/83, Seksyen U8, 
Bukit Jelutong, 40150 Shah Alam, 
Selangor, Malaysia.     
Tel 	 : +603 - 7846 9888
Fax 	: +603 - 7846 8168
Email: wet@wetsb.com 
Website: www.wetsb.com 
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